



The University of Manchester Research

Workforce risks and opportunities: Working time practices in nursing and midwifery

Link to publication record in Manchester Research Explorer

Citation for published version (APA): Rafferty, A. (2011). Workforce risks and opportunities: Working time practices in nursing and midwifery. No publisher name.

Citing this paper

Please note that where the full-text provided on Manchester Research Explorer is the Author Accepted Manuscript or Proof version this may differ from the final Published version. If citing, it is advised that you check and use the publisher's definitive version.

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the Research Explorer are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Takedown policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please refer to the University of Manchester's Takedown Procedures [http://man.ac.uk/04Y6Bo] or contact uml.scholarlycommunications@manchester.ac.uk providing relevant details, so we can investigate your claim.





CENTRE FOR WORKFORCE INTELLIGENCE



WORKFORCE RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES: WORKING TIME PRACTICES IN NURSING AND MIDWIFERY

Anthony Rafferty, Jill Rubery, Damian Grimshaw,

The University of Manchester

April 2011



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exe	ecutive summary	3
Context		4
Intro	oduction	5
1	Trends in work organisation	6
2	Job retention and Career advancement	8
3	Flexible working practices in nursing and midwifery	10
4	Challenges and prospects	12
5	Issues for implementation	13
6	Gaps in research and monitoring	14
7	Implications for workforce planning	17
7.	.1 Workforce risks	17
7.	.2 Workforce opportunities	18
8	References	19



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This briefing paper considers some key workforce risks, opportunities, monitoring, and research needs related to working time practices in nursing and midwifery.

Implications for workforce planners and HR managers in the NHS include:

- Longstanding workforce organisation issues around part-time and other flexible forms of working continue to be important to recruitment, retention, and career advancement within the nursing and midwifery workforce.
- Despite these persistent challenges, there is a risk that the current economic climate will reduce the impetus for work-life balance policies.
- The nursing and midwifery labour force remains predominantly female and issues around combining paid-work and parenthood persist.
- Assumptions regarding work-life balance being a 'motherhood issue' or something confined to the primary carers of children should be challenged. A greater focus on work-life balance amongst both older women and men, for example, could help utilise the skills and experience of people seeking a gradual transition into retirement, or encourage workforce re-entry.
- Workforce redesign is increasing in its prominence as an issue in other areas
 of the NHS. The increased feminisation of the medical workforce may provide
 new opportunities to modernise work organisation around interdependencies
 between medical and nursing roles.



CONTEXT

The Centre for Workforce Intelligence (CfWI) workforce risks and opportunities project sets out the major risks and opportunities facing the health and social care workforce in 2011 and beyond. The University of Manchester is providing specialist knowledge to CfWI through an integrated approach across a range of disciplines. This is one of a series of briefing papers to provide managers and workforce planners with evidence to inform their choices when addressing short, medium, and long-term workforce challenges.

The 2011 series focuses on:

- Labour substitution and efficiency in health care delivery: general principles and key messages
- Recession, recovery and the changing labour market context of the NHS
- Workforce risks and opportunities: working time practices in nursing and midwifery
- The policy context for dentistry skill mix in the NHS in the UK
- Identifying the risks and opportunities associated with skill mix changes and labour substitution in pharmacy
- What is the evidence that workload is affecting hospital pharmacists' performance and patient safety?
- Managing people in networked organisations: identifying the challenges for health and social care



INTRODUCTION

This research brief considers the workforce risks, opportunities, monitoring, and research needs related to working time practices in nursing and midwifery. The nursing and midwifery workforce plays a central role in quality service delivery and patient care. Effective work organisation in nursing and midwifery, as in many professions, is also important to workforce recruitment and retention. In this report we raise further concerns for the career advancement opportunities of part-time and other flexible workers.

The changing economic context and health care reforms may present new challenges to work organisation. At the same time, long-standing issues related to work-life balance and flexible working are likely to remain important to future workforce development. As the vast majority of nursing and midwifery roles are undertaken by women, a central focus is placed on gender and parenthood. However, work-life balance issues are not confined to women or the undertakers of domestic care. For example, work-life balance may also be important to older workers seeking a gradual transition into retirement or retirees being encouraged back into the labour market. The final section of the report draws out research and monitoring priorities, summarising key workforce risks and opportunities in relation to working time organisation identified through the review. Although focussing on nursing and midwifery, many of the issues raised apply to wider sections of the NHS workforce.



1 TRENDS IN WORK ORGANISATION

In recent decades, the organisation of working time in the western world has changed considerably in terms of the flexibility in how, when, and where people work.¹ These changes have largely been stimulated by an increased drive for competitiveness, technological advancement, and globalisation, as well as a related focus on the customer as central to work organisation and product and service delivery. Important to these trends has been the changing organisation and definition of 'standard' and 'non-standard' working time and between 'social' and 'unsocial' hours. Through establishing standard working days and working hours, the employment relationship historically placed time-related limits on the relationship between the wage or reward package that people receive and the effort or labour required in order for them to earn this. These limits were also placed on the share of an employee's time that was under the control of the employer. More recently, the growth in what has been termed the '24/7 economy', has been interpreted as efforts by employers to extend the times of the day, week, and year they can ask staff to work. It is also interpreted that this new flexibility is then scheduled in a way that is most productive for employers.²

The diminishing distinction between unsociable and sociable hours has further been witnessed through the increased withdrawal of unsocial hours payments.³ An implication of these changes to work organisation is that in many workplaces the definition of standard employment has shifted from a time-based (a fixed duration) definition to a task-based definition (an unfixed duration according to the time it takes to complete a specified set of tasks).

Many aspects of nursing and midwifery have always involved antisocial hours or non-standard working, and in particular shift-based organisation, although arrangements vary considerably between roles and settings. At the same time, health care reform and the customer service orientation to make the NHS 'patient-led'⁴ has created similar pressures within the NHS. In this context, there may be increased demands for part-time work to be organised to meet the needs of employers to reduce costs and increase work intensity, as well as to match the time preferences of 'consumers' for the provision of services. This approach



promotes a fragmented and variable pattern of working that is often at odds with the need to reconcile the demands of work and family life. ⁵

Importantly, changes to the definition and structuring of full-time work may create or exacerbate organisational issues around part-time work. Case study work conducted by Manchester Business School (MBS) suggests such problems may include: ⁶

- restrictions on opportunities to work part-time due to difficulties in integrating such employment into the full-time work hours schedule
- increased pressure on part-time workers to work a greater number of additional hours, potentially negating the reasons for choosing part-time work in the first place
- part-time jobs being reorganised into different career structures from full-time jobs, constraining opportunities for employment advancement amongst part-time workers
- problems around the arrangement of training and development activities for part-time workers, for example where such activities occur outside usual working hours.

Given the vast majority of nurses and midwives are women, work organisation and work-life balance issues remain an overarching issue for the entire workforce and career interruptions for childrearing are common. In the context of an ageing workforce, work-life balance issues may further be prominent for those seeking a gradual entry into retirement or reduced labour market participation.



2

JOB RETENTION AND CAREER ADVANCEMENT

Routes into the NHS nursing and midwifery workforce include entry through educational/vocational pathways and re-entry from outside of the labour market or from other occupations or the independent sector. Conversely, outflows from the workforce include retirement, temporary or longer-term exits due to maternity or parental reasons, short or long-term exits due to sickness, poor health or disability, and transitions into other occupations or the independent sector. From this, it can be seen that work-life balance issues shape decisionmaking around many of the inflow and outflow routes to the workforce. For example, problems with combining paid work and parenthood may be a reason for women moving to another job that better matches their requirements, or for reducing the number of working hours provided. On the other hand, the relative attractiveness of work-life balance policies within the nursing and midwifery professions compared to other occupations or the independent sector could attract qualified workers back into NHS nursing and midwifery jobs. Although this is important to women and the primary carers of children, the impacts on job retention are not confined to them. For example, the presence or absence of opportunities for flexible working may shape both retirement decisions and decisions to re-enter the labour market following retirement.

Career development opportunities are also important to attracting and retaining skilled staff⁷ Despite greater efforts to increase work-life flexibility in the NHS, part-time nurses still concentrate in basic clinical posts. Research indicates that career penalties around part-time working may reflect the attitudes or perceptions of managers regarding the work-commitment or career orientation of part time staff.⁸ However, career penalties may also occur through indirect discrimination through the organisation of part-time and full-time work into different career paths. Lane (2000) argues that career advancement in the nursing profession has predominantly been based around a model of full-time continuous employment or what has been traditionally a 'male' career pattern.⁹

In challenging assumptions regarding the career orientations of part-time workers, it is also important to note that despite part-time employees typically being discussed as a distinct group to full-time workers, many of today's part-



time workers are tomorrow's full-time staff. Part-time employment is something more likely to be undertaken at certain life stages. Lack of career aspirations can equally reflect the adaptation of preferences in response to a lack of opportunity.

A key challenge to modernising nursing and midwifery work organisational practices rests on providing greater opportunities for career orientated women to combine family life with employment, together with stronger career progression opportunities. Increased labour market attachment and levels of education amongst the broader female population are further likely to increase pressures on employers to make such provisions, as may the conversion of nursing to a graduate entry occupation. There is also a need to recognise the needs and aspirations of other groups of workers, such as men and older workers.



3 FLEXIBLE WORKING PRACTICES IN NURSING AND MIDWIFERY

In addition to part-time employment, formal flexible working practices may include job share, term time employment, compressed week, time off in lieu, flexitime, annualised hours, self-rostering, shift swapping, and sabbaticals.¹⁰ Within the context of nursing and midwifery, the term flexibility is also used in relation to bank or temporary nurses,¹¹ which have been used as a source of flexible labour for both employers and employees. As well as through formal flexible working arrangements, work-life balance is also facilitated by other work benefits such as childcare provision (e.g. crèche facilities) and state subsidy (e.g. Tax Credits). Within the NHS, flexible working has developed over time through a number of initiatives. For example, through the Improving Working Lives Standard,¹² NHS managers are expected to achieve a standard that enables staff to manage a healthy balance between their work and their commitments outside of work.¹³

Formal flexibility refers to explicitly stated contractual arrangements or dimensions of work organisation such as part-time working or flexitime. Informal flexibility refers to situations where employees are able to alter planned working time on an ad hoc basic at short notice, or agree personal start and finish times to apply on a routine basis to accommodate commitments outside of work.¹⁴ This form of flexibility may be agreed at a local level with a line manager without the need for senior management, HR specialists or amendments to working contracts. Line managers thus play an important role in facilitating or conversely inhibiting work-life balance.

From an employer or line manager perspective, the challenge of increasing the flexibility of employees' working arrangements is that it can create organisational complexity and inflexibilities, as well as increased pressures on balancing the interests of different members of staff. The work organisation requirements of staff are also subject to the primacy of care quality, continuity and patient-focussed service delivery. The specifics of service provision in some roles may further restrict the extent and types of flexible working practices that can realistically be implemented. However, the assessment of this should arguably be



systematically and empirically determined rather than by undemonstrated assumptions or the discretion of individual line managers.

Where such measures are implementable, positive outcomes of work-life balance initiatives and enhancing choice in working patterns may include reduced nurse turnover,¹⁵ lower sickness and improved wellbeing,¹⁶ and employee/employer perceptions of greater work effort.¹⁷ Self-rostering trials have also led to high satisfaction amongst staff.¹⁸ Findings from the RCN Working Well Initiative survey indicate that employers who value staff views and needs and consult them about how work is organised, are more likely to have staff who exhibit greater job satisfaction and psychological health.¹⁹

Heavy workloads and high amounts of overtime are common contributory factors to low job satisfaction amongst nurses, although this problem is not confined to the UK.²⁰ Poor management practices at the ward level such as poor rota management and the ineffective use of flexible working can lead to an excessive reliance on temporary nursing staff, with associated increases in staff costs.²¹ However, the use of bank nursing has reduced temporary agency staff related costs.²²

A shortage of flexible working practices such as job shares and crèche facilities arguably has constrained nurses from escaping low status part-time work.²³ Although government initiatives have sought to improve flexible working and work-life balance, considerable variation still exists in the prevalence of flexible working between different areas of nursing and midwifery and between settings. A key question concerns the extent to which such differences reflect unavoidable rigidities in specific roles or services constraining the implementation of flexible working or work-life balance practices, or the relative lack of modernisation of work organisation in comparison to other comparable areas of the workforce.



4 CHALLENGES AND PROSPECTS

Justifications for implementing flexible working have often centred on the 'business case' around recruitment and retention difficulties, ²⁴ or the knowledge that dissatisfaction with hours of work is a major cause of employee turnover. ²⁵ As a result, the current economic and policy climate may present new challenges to maintaining the drive or impetus for work-life balance and flexible working, particularly where financial tightening restricts resources for new (or old) initiatives or where in the face of labour surplus, retention and staffing issues become less acute.

At the same time, the healthcare workforce remains female dominated, and workforce planning takes place in the context of longer-term demographic trends. These include the higher employment rates and increased labour market attachment of women, as well as the equalisation of educational attainment by gender. The re-positioning of nursing as a degree entry vocation may further increase the intake of qualified and more career orientated women. In the context of an ageing workforce, a focus on the work-life balance aspirations of older workers may further aid the retention of staff or encourage labour market re-entry amongst the retired.

The current economic situation is unlikely to reverse longer-term trends towards increased demand for employment that allows a combination of career opportunities and wider life beyond paid-work. HR practices therefore should continue to build on the opportunity to develop strong internal labour market structures for women with career ambitions, but also recognise the potential workforce benefits of a broader approach to work-life balance policies reaching beyond issues of parenthood. In the context of an ageing workforce, there is likely to be greater demand from older workers to use flexible working as a transition into retirement. Consequently, there is a need for the longer-term case for defending the value of flexible working and work-life balance arrangements to be made. This should be done not only from the perspective of recognising employee legal rights, but also for longer-term recruitment and retention strategy, and for other potential positive impacts on service delivery as discussed above. This is important to avoid short-termism or surrendering longer-term modernisation of work force organisation to immediate fiscal priorities.



5 ISSUES FOR IMPLEMENTATION

Work organisation issues within nursing and midwifery do not take place in a vacuum but reflect interrelationships with wider service provision. In this manner, the overall work organisation in hospitals is often detrimental to the career interests of women or other workers seeking greater flexibility.²⁶ Improving work-life balance provision within nursing and midwifery requires integration of work organisation into wider service delivery or care pathways. For some roles, historically work organisation issues have partly reflected a lack of synchronisation between the demands of a predominantly male medical staff and a predominantly female nursing workforce. However, current increases in the proportion of the medical workforce that is female mean that it is likely that there will be further growth in the demand for part-time and flexible working within the medical profession.^{27, 28} These developments are important as they may provide new opportunities for a simultaneous examination of work organisation of roles within nursing and midwifery and within allied healthcare professions and other sectors of the workforce.

An ongoing challenge concerns removing or mitigating barriers to the implementation and take up of work-life balance policies. Barriers identified to flexible working include concerns on the impact of career progression and its identification as a 'women's issue',²⁹ a lack of understanding of what is available or possible, limited procedures for requesting flexible working, organisational culture and concerns about the effects on service delivery or associated targets,³⁰ and the role of line managers.³¹ A key issue concerns balancing the interests of different groups of staff. For example, older staff may see themselves as having to compensate in order to facilitate work-life balance amongst younger staff that may have greater child domestic care demands.

In relation to flexible working being identified as a 'motherhood issue', it is notable that the demand for flexible working is not confined to issues of parenthood. For example, it may also be high amongst older members of the workforce seeking a more gradual transition between employment and retirement, or amongst those who have other domestic care responsibilities such as for a parent, partner, or other family member. Reductions in state support for childcare or social care could lead to further increased demands for such provisions or employer—based solutions.



6 GAPS IN RESEARCH AND MONITORING

Variation in the prevalence of flexible work arrangements between different areas of nursing and midwifery creates identifiable research needs:

- Rather than treating these professions as a whole, this research would benefit from drawing out key differences and barriers across different roles, workplace settings, and care pathways.
- Contrasting practices between different dimensions of service provision or settings could raise important questions regarding the causes of inflexibility or other work organisation issues.
- Where problems around work-life balance are found to be concentrated, it would be useful to determine whether these are unavoidable, for example due to the nature of a given service role, or the result of other factors such as poor organisational practices.
- Further information is required on the reasons for non-take up of formal work-life balance policies and mitigating practices to reduce take up gaps for formal flexible working practices and how these differ between roles and settings.
- There is also a lack of information on the forms of flexibility that employees value the most, given their job context including the reasons for their preferences.³²
- Further research is also required on how work organisation can be undertaken to mitigate the impact of part-time and flexible working on career progression.
- The work-life balance auditing of different roles may also help provide clearer information for people to make decisions on entry into their careers regarding the specialism they choose. It may also help by improving information for people currently working in nursing and midwifery who may be seeking greater flexibility through alternative opportunities to their current post. This may be directed towards helping



reduce the number of people leaving nursing and midwifery to seek greater flexibility in other occupations. For example, women or primary carers often seek areas of work that have more planable work schedules, and greater information on this may aid decision-making around alternative employment opportunities at key life-stages.

• Differences in decision-making on the organisation of services and employment between foundation trusts may affect the opportunity for coherent and integrated policy across trusts.³³ One risk of this is that the localisation of information and policy responses within specific settings inhibits the distribution of information on wider employment alternatives; something which information sharing could seek to remedy.

Although context specific research is required, at the same time large-scale survey data such as the UK Labour Force Survey can be used to identify work organisation trends and the characteristics of people holding nursing and midwifery qualifications who currently work outside these professions. This information currently remains underutilised and may be used to draw insights into reasons for leaving and characteristics of people leaving the nursing and midwifery workforce. ³⁴

In terms of reducing retention problems, further information is required on the role work organisation practices play in recruitment and retention problems. Studies of employee turnover generally focus on economic factors such as pay levels, labour demand and supply, job alternatives, or psychological factors such as employee perceptions of their working environment, and the impact on the motivation to leave. ³⁵ One limitation identified within this literature is that these studies largely focus on reasons for leaving, rather than seeking to also understand the reasons why people stay or return to a given job or profession.³⁶ Although these reasons may be related, they are not necessarily identical or given the same level of dominance in decision-making at different life stages.³⁷ Where HR managers devise retention policies based on reasons for leaving, without understanding reasons for staying, one risk is this may reduce the impact of interventions.³⁸

Less work has been undertaken to understand informal as opposed to formal flexibility in nursing and midwifery. Informal flexibility may be an important and valued component of flexibility, such as the extent to which nursing teams can control and organise their working arrangements.³⁹ Informal flexibility highlights the role of effective and responsive line management in work organisation. The



benchmarking and monitoring of demand and staffing levels and needs within work settings, whether internally or against other similar trusts, could facilitate such roles. ⁴⁰ This work may further help in identifying the training or wider needs of line managers where performance falls below comparable standards or the need to develop standards.



7 IMPLICATIONS FOR WORKFORCE PLANNING

7.1 Workforce risks

- Longstanding workforce organisation issues around part-time and other flexible forms of working continue to represent key issues around recruitment and retention within the nursing and midwifery workforce. Part-time work also remains concentrated amongst lower clinical grades, and this partly reflects a lack of integration of part-time roles into career structures that seem to be organised around full-time employment.
- Despite these ongoing challenges, there is a risk that in the light of the current economic situation and government austerity, that the 'business case' for work-life balance policies will attenuate, particularly where labour shortages or retention issues become less acute or resources for initiatives are cut.
- At the same time, the Nursing and Midwifery workforces remain female dominated and contextualised in wider trends in increased female labour. In today's labour market, the female workforce is more qualified and has greater labour market attachment, which increases the demand for work that allows a combination of career and wider domestic roles.
- Work-life flexibility and career progression opportunities remain important reasons why people enter, remain, exit, or return to a given occupation or job, and so are important determinants of labour supply. Issues of work-life balance remain central to meeting the long-term staffing needs of the public healthcare sector and to attracting and retaining a skilled and capable workforce.
- Although work-life balance concerns are key to women's labour supply and employment decisions, they are not confined to women or to providers of domestic care. One risk that requires management is that flexible working and work-life balance policies are usually considered as female or motherhood issues.
- An important further issue relates to managing or harnessing the flexible work demands of an ageing workforce moving towards retirement. Reductions in



state provision for child care or social care may also increase demands for flexibility or employer-based work-life balance solutions.

• A focus on continuity of care may further conflict with work-life balance objectives. However, in the longer term, higher turnover from a lack of work-life balance in itself may impact negatively on continuity.

7.2 Workforce opportunities

- A key opportunity to modernising nursing and midwifery work organisational practices is to provide greater opportunities for more career orientated women to combine family life with employment offering strong career progression opportunities. Increased labour market attachment and levels of educational attainment amongst the broader female population are likely to increase future pressures on employers who wish to utilise female skilled labour to make such provisions. The change of nursing to a degree entry profession may further increase such demands.
- A greater focus on work-life balance amongst older members of the workforce could help utilise labour amongst this group through encouraging continued participation or encouraging retirees back into the labour market.
- Workforce redesign is increasing in its prominence as an issue in the NHS. For example, the increased feminisation of the medical workforce may provide new opportunities to modernise work organisation around interdependencies between medical, nursing and other roles.

8 REFERENCES

- Rubery J, Ward K, and Grimshaw D, & Beynon H. "Working time, industrial relations and the employment relationship, Time and Society, 2005a 14: 1, 89-111
- Rubery J, Ward K, and Grimshaw D. "The changing employment relationship and the implications for part-time work", Labour and Industry, 2005b 5:3, 7-28.
- 3. Everingham C. "Engendered time: Gender equality and discourses of workplace flexibility", Time and Society, 2002 11:2, 335-51.
- 4. For example, see Harris R, Bennett J, Davey B, & Ross F. 'Flexible working and the contribution of nurses in mid-life to the workforce: A qualitative study'. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2010 47: 4, 418 - 426.
- 5. Rubery et al 2005b, op cit.
- 6. In-depth case studies conducted in the late 1990s by EWERC revealed the nature of changing practice within the private and public workforce (including NHS). Semi-structured interviews were conducted at different organisational levels and with trade union representatives (n=264) in six large service sector organisations, two in the public sector and four in the private sector who were visited at two time points over two years. Using pseudonyms, the organisations studied were: A large hospital trust ('Healthco'); A City Council ('Councilco') (including a social care workforce team); A large supermarket chain ('Retailco'); A medium sized bank ('Bankco'); A large telecommunication company ('Telecomco'); A mediumsized bank ('Bankco') At each workplace visited, managers and workers were clear that working-time policies had been used to restructure the wage-effort relationship in two distinct but related ways. For those on timerelated contracts staff had to do more during active hours of work. There was evidence of work intensification with the tempo of work was increasing as the mix of 'active' and 'non-active' periods was adjusted (p98). The case studies confirmed finding in wider trends that part of the reorganisation of work witnessed in the economy has involved in the weakening of the standard hours for full-time workers (Rubery et al, 2005b). Those employed



on full-time contracts are increasingly expected to match the flexibility of part-time workers through results based approaches to employment, where the hours of work are defined as those required to undertake a bundle of tasks that constitute the job rather than by a fixed number of hours.

- Loan-Clarke J, Arnold J, Coombs C, Hartley R, & Bosley S. 'Retention, turnover and return – a longitudinal study of allied health professionals in Britain', Human Resource Management Journal, 2010 20: 4, 391-406.
- 8. Goss S and Brown H. Equal Opportunities for Women in the NHS. Report produced by the Office of Public Management, London: NHSME. 1991
- 9. Lane N. 'The low status of female part-time NHS nurses: A bed-pan ceiling?' Gender, Work, and Organization, 2000 7: 4, 269-281.
- For example, see Kodz J, Harper H and Dench S. Work-life Balance: Beyond the Rhetoric, Brighton: Institute for Employment Studies.; Hall, L. & Atkinson, C. 2002 'Improving working lives: Flexible working and the role of employee control' Employee Relations, 2006 28: 4, 374-386.
- 11. For example, see Mercer M, Buchan J, & Chubb C. 'Flexible nursing. Report for NHS' professionals. Institute of Employment Studies, Brighton. 2010
- 12. http://www.nhsprofessionals.nhs.uk
- 13. DoH The NHS Plan. A Plan for Investment, a Plan for Reform, London: The Stationery Office. 2002
- 14. Hall L & Atkinson C. 'Improving working lives: Flexible working and the role of employee control' Employee Relations, 2006 28: 4, 374-386, p.
- 15. Mahoney C. 'Ward winners', People Management, 28 September. 2000
- 16. Lea A and Bloodworth C. 'Modernising the 12-hour shift', Nursing Standard, 2003 17: 19, 33-6.
- 17. Hall and Atkinson, 2006, op cit.



- 18. Wortley V and Grierson-Hill L. "Developing a successful self-rostering system", Nursing Standard, 2003 17:42, 40-2.
- RCN 'Working well: A call to employers. A summary of the RCN working well survey into the wellbeing and working lives of nurses', London: Royal College of Nursing. 2002
- 20. See Shields MA. Addressing nurse shortages: What can policy makers learn from the econometric evidence on nurse labour supply? The Economic Journal, 2004 114(499), F464-F498.
- 21. Britain G. Improving the use of temporary nursing staff in NHS acute and foundation trusts. London: The Stationery Office. 2006
- 22. Britain, 2006, op. cit.
- 23. Davies C and Rosser J. Processes of Discrimination: A Study of Women Working in the NHS. 1996 London: Department of Health and Social Security; Equal Opportunities Commission Equality Management: Women's Employment in the NHS. Manchester: Equal Opportunities Commission 1991; Seccombe I and Ball J. Motivation, Morale and Mobility. Report No. 233, Brighton: Institute of Manpower 1992 Studies; Corby S. Opportunity 2000 in the National Health Service: a missed opportunity for women. Employee Relations, 1995 17,3, 23–37; Wyatt S and Langridge C. Getting to the top in the National Health Service. 1996. In Ledwith S and Colgan F. (eds) Women in Organizations: Challenging Gender Politics. London: Macmillan. pp. 212–45; Finlayson, L.R. and Nazroo, J.Y. 1998 Gender Inequalities in Nursing Careers. London: PSI.
- 24. McBride A. "Reconciling competing pressures for working-time flexibility: an impossible task in the NHS (NHS)?", Work, Employment and Society, 2003 17: 1, 159-70.
- 25. Taylor S. The Employee Retention Handbook, CIPD, London. 2002
- 26. Lane N. The low status of female part-time NHS nurses: A bed-pan ceiling? Gender, Work, and Organization, 2000 7(4), 269-281.

- Winyard G. The future of female doctors. British Medical Journal, 2009 vol.
 338 jun03 2, b2223.
- 28. See Elston M A. Women and medicine: The future. London: Royal College of Physicians 2009
- 29. Rana E. "Balancing Act Earns UK Respect: The Guide to Work-life Balance" 2002, CIPD, London; Hall and Atkinson, 2006
- 30. CIPD "Managers obstruct flexibility", People Management, 2003 9 no. 18,9.
- 31. Hall and Atkinson, 2006, op. cit.
- 32. Hall and Atkinson, 2006, op. cit.
- 33. Winyard G. 'The future of female doctors', British Medical Journal, 2009 338: jun03 2, b2223.
- 34. For an exception see Manning A & Petrongolo B. "The part-time pay penalty of women in Britain", Economic Journal, 2008 118 (526), F28-F31.
- 35. Morrell KM, Loan Clarke J and Wilkinson AJ. 'Unweaving leaving: the use of models in the management of employee turnover', International Journal of Management Reviews, 2001 3: 1, 219–244.
- 36. Loan-Clarke, et al (2010), op. cit.
- 37. Maertz CP Jr and Campion MA. 'Twenty-five years of voluntary turnover research: a review and critique', International Review of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, 1998 13: 1, 49–81. Examining the Allied Professionals Workforce, Loan Clark et al (2010) for example highlight how the primary reasons given for leaving, returning, or staying are not necessarily the same, although at the same time issues of work life flexibility appear to play important roles in all three (or just leaving and staying). Also see Fuller JB, Hester K, Dickson P, Allison BJ and Birdseye M. 'A closer look at select cognitive precursors to organizational turnover: what has been missed and why', Psychological Reports, 1996 78: 3, 1331–1352.



- For example, De Vos A and Meganck A. 'What HR managers do versus what employees value: exploring both parties' views on retention management from a psychological contract perspective'. Personnel Review, 2009 38: 1, 45–60.
- 39. Hall and Atkinson, 2006, op cit, p
- 40. Britain G. Improving the use of temporary nursing staff in NHS acute and foundation trusts. London: The Stationery Office. 2006



DISCLAIMER

The Centre for Workforce Intelligence (**CFWI**) is an independent agency working on specific projects for the Department of Health and is an operating unit within Mouchel Management Consulting Limited (**MMC**).

This report is prepared solely for the Department of Health by MMC, in its role as operator of the CFWI, for the purpose identified in the report. It may not be used or relied on by any other person, or by the Department of Health in relation to any other matters not covered specifically by the scope of this report.

MMC has exercised reasonable skill, care and diligence in the compilation of the report and MMC's only liability shall be to the Department of Health and only to the extent that it has failed to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence. Any publication or public dissemination of this report, including the publication of the report on the CFWI website or otherwise, is for information purposes only and cannot be relied upon by any other person.

In producing the report, MMC obtains and uses information and data from third party sources and cannot guarantee the accuracy of such data. The report also contains projections, which are subjective in nature and constitute MMC's opinion as to likely future trends or events based on i) the information known to MMC at the time the report was prepared; and ii) the data that it has collected from third parties.

Other than exercising reasonable skill, care and diligence in the preparation of this report, MMC does not provide any other warranty whatsoever in relation to the report, whether express or implied, including in relation to the accuracy of any third party data used by MMC in the report and in relation to the accuracy, completeness or fitness for any particular purposes of any projections contained within the report.

MMC shall not be liable to any person in contract, tort (including negligence), or otherwise for any damage or loss whatsoever which may arise either directly or indirectly, including in relation to any errors in forecasts, speculations or analyses, or in relation to the use of third party information or data in this report. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this disclaimer shall be construed so as to exclude MMC's liability for fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation.



www.cfwi.org.uk

The Centre for Workforce Intelligence produces quality intelligence to inform better workforce planning that improves people's lives